Guidelines for the Nutritional Management of Diabetes Mellitus in the New Millennium

A POSITION STATEMENT BY THE CANADIAN DIABETES ASSOCIATION

Reprinted from Canadian Journal of Diabetes Care 23(3): 56-69.



CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	3
General principles	3
Nutritional goals of diabetes management	3
ENERGY NUTRIENTS	3
Carbohydrates.	
Sugars	
Fibre	
Protein	
Fats	
Alcohol	5
Sweeteners	
MICRONUTRIENTS	6
LIFE STAGES	6
Infants, children and teenagers	6
Pregnancy	7
Elderly	8
LIFESTYLE/CULTURE	Q
Frequency of eating.	
Exercise	
Vegetarian eating.	
Travel	
Cultural sensitivity.	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
OTHER CONSIDERATIONS	
Weight management and obesity	
Hypertension	
Dyslipidemia	
Nephropathy	
Neuropathy	
Considerations for insulin and/or insulin secretagogue users	
Hypoglycemia	
Weight	
Carbohydrate counting	
New and future diabetes medications	. 12
PREVENTION OF TYPE 2 DIABETES	. 12
SUMMARY	. 13
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	. 13
Steering Committee Members	
Expert Committee Members	
•	
REFERENCES	. 13

POSITION PAPER

3

GUIDELINES FOR THE NUTRITIONAL MANAGEMENT OF DIABETES MELLITUS IN THE NEW MILLENNIUM: A POSITION STATEMENT BY THE CANADIAN DIABETES ASSOCIATION

Thomas Wolever MD PhD, Marie-Claire Barbeau DtP, Stephanie Charron PHEc, Kathy Harrigan PDt MHE CDE, Sharon Leung RDN CDE, Bev Madrick RD CDE, Teresa Taillefer RD CDE, Carol Seto RD CDE National Nutrition Committee, Canadian Diabetes Association

INTRODUCTION

The overall goal of diabetes management is to help individuals with diabetes and their families gain the necessary knowledge, life skills, resources and support needed to achieve optimal health. This requires a team effort that includes diabetes health care professionals and the individuals who must deal with this chronic condition on a daily basis. The registered dietitian is a key member of the health care team, who plays an integral role in the individualization of management strategies for people with diabetes and those at risk for developing it. The nutritional management of diabetes follows the principles of *Canada's Food Guide to Healthy Eating* (1) and remains one of the cornerstones of effective therapy.

Nutritional management seeks to improve or maintain the following:

- the quality of life for people with diabetes and their families through management techniques that include the entire family unit in decision-making, while enhancing the individual's personal sense of control and well-being;
- the physiological health of individuals with diabetes, by establishing and maintaining blood glucose and lipid levels as near-normal as possible, and by using vigilance in preventing and/or treating diabetes-related complications and any concomitant conditions; and
- the nutritional status of people with diabetes, by recognizing that their micro- and macronutrient requirements are similar to those of the general population.

General principles

In general, nutrition advice for people with diabetes is the same as that for all Canadians, and follows the principles of *Canada's Guidelines for Healthy Eating* (2):

- Enjoy a variety of foods.
- Emphasize cereals, breads and other whole grain products, vegetables and fruits.
- Choose lower-fat dairy products, leaner meats and foods prepared with little or no fat.
- Achieve and maintain a healthy body weight by enjoying regular physical activity and healthy eating.
- · Limit salt, alcohol and caffeine.

People with diabetes can continue to enjoy the foods they love, in moderation, while maintaining the variety promoted by *Canada's Food Guide to Healthy Eating*. If medication is necessary to optimize diabetes control, its use should be an adjunct to regular physical activity and healthy eating. The timing and doses of medication used should be adjusted to fit with the eating and physical activity patterns chosen by the individual with diabetes.

Nutritional goals of diabetes management

A major goal for diabetes care is to improve glycemic control by balancing food intake with endogenous and/or exogenous insulin levels. For people with type 1 diabetes, insulin doses need to be adjusted to balance with nutritionally adequate food intake and physical activity. For individuals with type 2 diabetes, impaired glucose tolerance or impaired fasting glucose, attention to food portions and weight management combined with physical activity may help improve glycemic control. Nutrition and all forms of diabetes management should be individualized.

Recommendations

- All people with diabetes should receive nutritional counselling from a registered dietitian.
- Canada's Guidelines for Healthy Eating and Canada's Food Guide to Healthy Eating should be equally applied to people with diabetes and without diabetes.
- People with diabetes should be encouraged to obtain optimal metabolic control through a balance of food intake, physical activity and medication (if required) to avoid complications (3,4).
- Specific dietary recommendations and medications should be individualized to accommodate the person's preferences and lifestyle.

ENERGY NUTRIENTS

Carbohydrates

Dietary carbohydrates from cereals, breads, other grain products, legumes, vegetables, fruits, dairy products and added sugars should provide 50–60% of the individual's energy requirements (5). Both the source and the amount of carbohydrate consumed influence blood glucose and insulin responses (6,7). The terms "simple" and "complex"

should not be used to classify carbohydrates, because they do not help to determine the impact of carbohydrates on blood glucose levels (8,9). Factors that influence blood glucose are not predicted by chemical composition alone; food form, ingested particle size, starch structure and cooking methods may all influence the carbohydrate absorption rate from the small intestine and the resultant blood glucose response (10).

The glycemic index (GI) expresses the rise in blood glucose elicited by a carbohydrate food as a percentage of the rise in blood glucose that would occur if the same individual ingested an equal amount of carbohydrate from white bread or glucose (8,11). Increased use of low GI foods such as legumes, barley, pasta and whole intact grains (e.g. cracked wheat) may help improve blood glucose control and allow carbohydrate intake to be increased without raising serum triglycerides (12).

The role of the GI in diabetes therapy is controversial. The GI is not endorsed by the American Diabetes Association (13), but it is recommended by the Diabetes Nutrition Study Group of the European Association for the Study of Diabetes (14) and by the World Health Organization (8). There is concern that including GI information in nutrition teaching is too complicated and limits food choices (15). Nevertheless, in people with newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes, there is evidence that nutrition education based on the GI is associated with higher carbohydrate, lower fat and higher fibre intakes — as well as better blood glucose and lipid control — compared to those educated using traditional dietary advice (16). Epidemiological studies also suggest that use of low GI foods reduces the risk of developing type 2 diabetes (17,18). Extensive tables of the GI values of foods have been published (19).

Recommendations

- Carbohydrates should provide 50–60% of daily energy requirements.
- The amount and source of carbohydrate in meal planning should be considered.
- Including low GI foods may be helpful in optimizing blood glucose control.

Sugars

In the past, avoidance of sugar has been a major focus of nutritional advice for people with diabetes. However, research clearly shows that sugars are an acceptable part of a healthy diet for those with diabetes, particularly sugars obtained from fruits, vegetables and dairy products. Up to 10% of total daily energy requirements may consist of added sugars, such as table sugar and sugar-sweetened products, without impairing glycemic control in people with type 1 (20) or type 2 (21,22) diabetes.

Foods containing sugars vary in nutritional value and physiological effects. For example, sucrose and orange juice have similar effects on blood glucose but contain different amounts of vitamins and minerals. Consuming whole fruits and fruit juices causes blood glucose concentrations to peak

slightly earlier but fall more quickly than consuming an equivalent carbohydrate portion of white bread. This results in a lower GI for fruits and fruit juices than bread (9,23). Because refined sucrose produces a lower blood glucose response than many refined starches, some sweetened breakfast cereals produce lower plasma glucose and insulin responses than equal carbohydrate portions of unsweetened cereals (24). Thus, undue avoidance of foods containing simple sugars is not necessary. Generally, however, intake of added fructose, sucrose or high-fructose corn syrup in excess of 10% of energy should be avoided, since evidence suggests that this may increase serum triglycerides and/or LDL cholesterol in susceptible individuals (25).

Recommendations

- Naturally occurring and added sugars should be included as part of the daily carbohydrate allowance and as part of a healthy eating plan.
- Most people with diabetes can include added sugars up to 10% of daily energy requirements without deleterious effects on blood glucose or lipid control.

Fibre

Daily soluble fibre intake of 5-10 g/d from oats, barley, legumes or purified fibre sources such as psyllium, pectin and guar, can reduce serum cholesterol by 5-10% (26,27). Purified soluble fibre sources reduce blood glucose responses and have been associated with improved blood glucose control (28). However, soluble fibre content alone is not a reliable indicator of the food's metabolic effects. Research indicates that the insoluble fibre content of whole foods is more closely related to their GI than the soluble fibre content (29). This is consistent with data from epidemiological studies, which suggest that insoluble fibres from cereals may reduce the risk for coronary heart disease and type 2 diabetes by up to 30% for each 10 g increment in intake (17,18,30). All Canadians, including people with diabetes, are advised to increase fibre intake from a variety of foods by following Canada's Food Guide to Healthy Eating.

Recommendations

- Total dietary fibre intake of at least 25–35 g/d from a variety of sources, as recommended by *Canada's Food Guide to Healthy Eating*, is advised for adults. For children, 5 g plus 1 g/year of age is suggested as a guide.
- Including more foods and food combinations that combine cereal fibre with low GI may be helpful in optimizing health outcomes for people with diabetes or at risk for diabetes.

Protein

Current evidence indicates people with diabetes have similar protein requirements to those of the general population — about 0.86 g/kg per day (5). Although protein plays a role in stimulating insulin secretion (31,32), excessive intake should be avoided as it may contribute to the pathogenesis of diabetic nephropathy (33). Some evidence suggests eating vegetable protein rather than animal

protein is better for reducing serum cholesterol (34) and managing nephropathy (35,36).

Recommendations

- Protein intake should be at least 0.86 g/kg/day.
- Vegetable protein should be considered as an alternative to animal protein.

Fats

Numerous studies indicate high-fat diets can impair glucose tolerance and promote obesity, dyslipidemia and atherosclerotic heart disease. Research also shows these same metabolic abnormalities are reversed or improved by reducing saturated fat intake. Current recommendations on fat intake for the general population apply equally to people with diabetes: reduce saturated fats to 10% or less of total energy intake and cholesterol intake to 300 mg/d or less (37). Scientific debate continues over which alternative is preferable to saturated fat — polyunsaturated fat, monounsaturated fat or carbohydrate calories (38,39).

Health Canada's nutrition guidelines are still considered appropriate for most people with diabetes. For adults who have normal lipid levels and maintain a reasonable weight, the guidelines recommend a daily fat intake $\leq 30\%$ of daily energy requirements, comprised of $\leq 10\%$ saturated fat and $\leq 10\%$ polyunsaturated fat, with the remainder coming from monounsaturated fat (5).

Research suggests monounsaturated fat (such as canola, olive and peanut oils) may have beneficial effects on triglycerides and glycemic control in some individuals with diabetes (40), but care must be taken to avoid weight gain. Omega–3 fatty acids, found in fish such as salmon and mackerel, may reduce serum triglycerides without impairing glycemic control (41). Although consuming large quantities of omega–3 fatty acids from natural foods is probably not practical for most, eating fish rich in omega–3 fatty acids at least once weekly is recommended. Conversely, ingesting trans-fatty acids that are commonly found in many manufactured foods should be limited. Produced by hydrogenating vegetable oils, the biological effects of trans-fatty acids are similar to those of saturated fat (42,43).

Recommendations

- Total fat should be limited to ≤ 30% of daily energy requirements.
- Saturated and polyunsaturated fats should each provide ≤ 10% of daily energy requirements.
- Monounsaturated fats should be used where possible.
- Use of processed foods containing saturated fats and trans-fatty acids should be limited.
- Fish rich in omega-3 fatty acids should be recommended at least once weekly.

Alcohol

Moderate alcohol consumption is acceptable for individuals with diabetes whose blood glucose and lipids

are well controlled. Intake should account for no more than 5% of total energy intake or 2 drinks per day, whichever is less. Abstinence is recommended during pregnancy and lactation. Restriction or avoidance of alcohol may also be advisable for people with concomitant medical conditions such as dyslipidemia, hypertension or liver impairment. Regular alcohol intake can contribute to weight gain and both hypoglycemia and hyperglycemia. Guidelines on the use of alcohol should be included as part of meal-planning discussions.

Alcohol impairs hepatic glucose release and can cause delayed hypoglycemia in individuals taking insulin and/or insulin secretagogues. Increased physical activity and/or reduced food intake in the presence of alcohol intake can further increase the risk of hypoglycemia. To reduce this risk, individuals on these medications would be advised to consume foods containing carbohydrate when drinking alcohol. Family members and other support people should understand the relationship between alcohol and diabetes and how to manage short-term consequences. People with diabetes should be encouraged to wear medical alert bracelets, to ensure prompt identification and treatment of their condition in emergency situations.

Recommendations

- People with diabetes should discuss alcohol use with their health care team.
- Alcohol consumption should be limited to 5% of total energy intake or 2 drinks per day, whichever is less.
- People with diabetes using insulin and/or insulin secretagogues, should eat a carbohydrate food when drinking alcohol to help avoid hypoglycemia.
- Abstinence from alcohol is advised during pregnancy and lactation.
- Individuals with medical conditions such as dyslipidemia, hypertension or liver impairment should avoid or restrict alcohol consumption.

Sweeteners

Moderate use of nutritive (sucrose, fructose, the sugar alcohols [xylitol, mannitol, sorbitol, isomalt, lactitol and maltitol] and aspartame) and non-nutritive sweeteners (acesulfame potassium, sucralose, cyclamate and saccharin) can be part of a well-balanced diet for people with diabetes (44). The energy and/or carbohydrate content of nutritive sweeteners needs to be included in the meal plan, whereas non-nutritive sweeteners do not affect blood glucose levels and provide little or no energy. For example, aspartame is a nutritive sweetener. It provides 16 kJ/g but has a minimal energy contribution to the diet because it is extremely sweet (180-200 times sweeter than sucrose), so only a very small amount is required to sweeten a food product. Sugar alcohols raise blood glucose only minimally (45,46) and contribute a small amount of energy to the diet. Sugar alcohols are absorbed and metabolized at different rates in the small intestine and can cause flatulence and diarrhea in some individuals (47).

During pregnancy and lactation, saccharin and cyclamate

are not recommended. In moderation, acesulfame potassium, aspartame and sucralose (48) are acceptable. In individuals with phenylketonuria, the use of aspartame is contraindicated.

In Canada, nutritive and non-nutritive sweeteners are regulated as food additives. Health Canada sets standards that regulate the amount of food additives that are permitted for use in foods. Table 1 provides the acceptable daily intake (ADI) for some common sweeteners. The ADI is expressed in mg/kg of body weight per day and is defined as the amount of sweetener that can be safely consumed on a daily basis over a person's lifetime without any adverse effects. The ADI amounts are actually much higher than the amounts an individual would consume in a typical diet. However, individuals with diabetes should receive individualized counselling on how to include the use of foods containing sweeteners. These foods are often not low in energy due to the fat content of the product. Individuals should therefore be advised on how to evaluate food labels for total fat and sweetener content and on how to substitute these products for other food choices within the meal plan. Individuals should also monitor blood glucose and lipid levels on a regular basis and assess their response to routine sweetener use.

Recommendations

- Individuals with diabetes should be educated on the appropriate use of nutritive and non-nutritive sweeteners.
- The impact of nutritive sweeteners on the individual's blood glucose levels and lipid profiles should be assessed on a regular basis.

MICRONUTRIENTS

People with diabetes should be encouraged to obtain daily vitamin and mineral requirements from a well-balanced diet. Routine use of vitamin/mineral supplements is not recommended except in cases of inadequate food consumption or other special needs. Despite various claims concerning the benefits of supplements of vitamins and minerals in the treatment of diabetes, the evidence is not sufficient at this time to recommend routine supplementation.

People with diabetes have reduced antioxidant capacity, and this may play a role in the development of complications by increasing protein glycosylation, increasing the atherogenic potential of serum LDL particles and altering endothelial function (49). Short-term increases in plasma antioxidant capacity can be demonstrated after consumption of antioxidant vitamins such as b-carotene or vitamins C or E. However, the long-term implications of this are not clear. The Microalbuminuria, Cardiovascular and Renal Outcomes of the Heart Outcomes Prevention Evaluation (MICRO-HOPE) study involves 3,657 subjects with diabetes randomized to receive ACE inhibitor or placebo and vitamin E or placebo for 4 years (50). The results of this study, expected next year, will be helpful in determining the role of vitamin E in the treatment of diabetes.

Table 1

Sweeteners

Acceptable daily intake (mg/kg body weight/day)

Aspartame	40	Saccharin	5
Acesulfame K	15	Sucralose*	15
Cyclamate	11		

*Canada has a more conservative ADI of 9 mg/kg body weight/day Ref.: 1996 FAO/WHO Joint Expert Committee Food Additives publication.

Decreased magnesium stores are correlated with poor diabetic control, insulin resistance, macrovascular disease and hypertension (51), but the low magnesium status may be the result rather than the cause of these conditions. There is insufficient evidence that magnesium supplements improve blood glucose control. Chromium deficiency can result in decreased glucose tolerance but is believed to be rare (52). Most studies have not shown any benefit from chromium supplements, possibly because of inadequate doses or the use of poorly absorbed forms of the mineral (53). A recent study showed that chromium picolinate significantly improved glycemic control in people with diabetes (54). However, the doses used, 3.84 and 19.2 µmol (200 and 1,000 µg of elemental chromium) per day, were higher than the upper limit of the estimated safe and adequate daily intake.

Recommendations

- People with diabetes should be encouraged to obtain daily vitamin and mineral requirements from a wellbalanced diet.
- Routine use of vitamin or mineral supplements is not recommended except in cases of inadequate food consumption or other special needs.

LIFE STAGES

Infants, children and teenagers

Adequate nutrition should be provided to support the growth, development and normal activity of all children with diabetes. Protein requirements for children with diabetes are higher than those of adults but are no different than for children without diabetes (5). Fat restriction (≤ 30% total energy) is contraindicated in infants and young children less than 2 years of age (55). Avoiding hypoglycemia is the primary goal of diabetes management in this population (56). Variable carbohydrate intake in this group can make it difficult to predict insulin doses. Fast-acting insulin analogues can be useful in this situation since they may be given after meals based on the amount of carbohydrate eaten. Meals and snacks should be planned around the child's individual routine, and frequent followup is recommended so the nutritional plan can be adjusted to meet the growing child's energy needs.

Most children with type 1 diabetes have normal lipid levels and acceptable weights but are at significant risk of developing long-term macrovascular disease (57). This risk is increased by adoption of lifestyle factors such as excess energy intake, diets high in saturated fats, low physical activity and smoking. Lifestyle education and counselling on avoiding these risks can prevent or delay the development of cardiovascular disease later in life. There has been an increase in the diagnoses of children with type 2 diabetes, especially in ethnic populations in Canada. Diabetes resources should be made available to families with children who have type 1 or type 2 diabetes. Bridging programs should be implemented to facilitate the transition from adolescence to adulthood.

Weight gain following initiation of insulin therapy and focus on dietary restraint may lead to body-image dissatisfaction and weight concerns already common in adolescence, therefore predisposing a child to disordered eating (58–61). Clinical warning signs to identify individuals at risk of eating disorders include refractory metabolic control, weight occupation and anxiety about being weighed, and delay in puberty, sexual maturation or growth (58,62–66). It is recommended that screening for behaviours/attitudes associated with disordered eating (i.e. excessive physical activity, restrictive eating, insulin misuse and body-image dissatisfaction) be incorporated into follow-up visits (58,61,64,67–69).

Recommendations

- Avoiding hypoglycemia should be the primary goal of diabetes management in infants and children.
- All children should be assessed at least annually by a registered dietitian specializing in pediatric nutrition to ensure they are receiving adequate nutrition for growth and development.
- Parents and caregivers of children with diabetes should be alert for unpredictable carbohydrate intake that may require adjustment to the type, timing and dose of insulin.
- Fat restriction is contraindicated in infants and young children less than 2 years of age.
- Lifestyle and smoking avoidance education are recommended to reduce the long-term risks of vascular disease.
- Follow-up visits should incorporate routine screening for behaviours and attitudes associated with disordered eating.
- Bridging programs should be used to assist transitions from adolescence to adulthood.

Pregnancy

Achieving normoglycemia while consuming a nutritionally adequate diet is the goal for women who enter pregnancy with pre-existing diabetes and for those who develop diabetes while pregnant. Preconception counselling is recommended to promote these goals and to initiate a multivitamin supplement that contains 0.4 mg to

1.0 mg of folic acid. This supplement is recommended before pregnancy and during the early weeks of pregnancy to ensure that folic acid requirements are met (70). Control of blood glucose and supplementation of folic acid are both promoted to reduce the risk of congenital malformations in the offspring of women with type 1 and 2 diabetes. Screening of all pregnant women (except those at very low risk) at 24–28 weeks is recommended to diagnose and treat gestational diabetes mellitus (71).

It is important that the woman with diabetes have followup visits with a health care team experienced in prenatal care. A registered dietitian's role is to promote a healthy diet that meets the micro- and macronutrient needs of pregnancy. Food choices are often divided into 6 small meals spread at regular intervals throughout the day and evening. This small, frequent meal pattern may help reduce prenatal complaints such as nausea and heartburn while reducing the risk of hypoglycemia and ketonuria. This strategy appears to reduce acute peak glycemia excursions (72,73), which may avoid the need for adjustments to insulin dosage. However, more research is required to establish whether increasing meal frequency reliably improves overall glycemic control in diabetes or alters pregnancy outcome. Tools such as daily food/activity records, morning ketone testing, daily self blood glucose monitoring and regular weight gain monitoring will help the registered dietitian further individualize the nutrition care plan with the expectant mother. Pregnancy-specific issues such as the safety of medications, use of nutritive and non-nutritive sweeteners, treatment of nausea and appropriate physical activity should be discussed on an individual basis. Insulin requirements increase in pregnancy and may require that adjustments be made to insulin dosage. The use of insulin secretagogues in pregnancy is contraindicated (74,75). Breastfeeding should be promoted during pregnancy; women with diabetes need to understand that they can successfully breastfeed their offspring and that they are aware of resources available to them.

During the early weeks of the postpartum period, mothers with diabetes should continue to check their blood glucose regularly. It is important that women with gestational diabetes understand that they are at risk of developing subsequent diabetes and that they should be tested again between 6 weeks and 6 months postpartum. Lifestyle issues such as healthy eating habits and regular physical activity to achieve a healthy body weight should be encouraged. For breastfeeding women, ensure that energy requirements are met. Breastfeeding women requiring insulin may need to adjust their dose based on self blood glucose monitoring results (76). It is important to protect the infant from the risk of maternal hypoglycemia by ensuring that food is handy to treat low blood glucose. Hypoglycemia is often related to a late meal or snack rather than due to the energy expended by the feeding (76). As the infant is weaned off breast milk, women with diabetes will have to continue to monitor their weight, energy intake, medication and blood glucose levels to achieve goals set with the health care team.

Recommendations

- All mothers with diabetes should have follow-up visits with a registered dietitian to ensure that the diet is well-balanced and individualized with the goal of achieving normal maternal glucose levels.
- A multivitamin with 0.4 mg to 1.0 mg folic acid prior to conception and during the early weeks of pregnancy is recommended to reduce the risk of neural tube defects and congenital malformations in the offspring of the mother with diabetes.
- Breastfeeding should be promoted prenatally to ensure that women with diabetes know how to deal with the glycemic effects of breastfeeding.
- Women with gestational diabetes should be informed of their increased risk for type 2 diabetes and the importance of adopting a healthy lifestyle.

Elderly

Nutrition management for older persons with diabetes is essentially the same as for older adults without diabetes. When developing a meal plan, it is important to consider the presence of co-existing conditions and the individual's social situation, including finances and the ability to shop and cook. Hypoglycemia is a serious concern among older people with diabetes who take insulin and/or insulin secretagogues for their diabetes, since many have reduced awareness of symptoms (77). Meal planning should therefore consider the risk of hypoglycemia in older persons taking diabetes medication. Because of a reduced thirst mechanism in the older person, adequate fluid intake must be ensured to avoid dehydration and constipation. Dietary approaches to prevent constipation in the older person with diabetes are encouraged. Pharmaceutical and physical interventions to treat constipation should be used as a last resort. Regular follow-up visits to the health care team can help promote adequate energy, protein and micronutrients in their diet, while maintaining a good quality of life.

Recommendations

- Nutrition plans for older persons with diabetes should be the same as for other adults with diabetes but may need adjustment due to co-existing conditions and social situation.
- Meal planning should consider the risk of hypoglycemia in individuals on insulin and/or insulin secretagogues.
- Dietary approaches for the treatment of constipation should be attempted in older persons with diabetes.
- Periodic nutritional assessments are advised to ensure adequate intake of energy, protein, micronutrients and maintenance of quality of life.

LIFESTYLE/CULTURE

Frequency of eating

There is evidence that dividing carbohydrate portions into 9 or more equal meals spaced throughout the day reduces serum cholesterol (78) and will acutely reduce the

peak glycemic excursions that can occur by ingesting carbohydrate in 3 large meals spaced 4–5 hours apart (79). This strategy may be useful in certain circumstances, such as gestational diabetes. However, there is no evidence that increased meal frequency (changing from 3 to 9 meals per day) leads to long-term improvement in glycemic control (80). The consumption of small, equal-sized, frequent meals, with no increase in energy intake, may be difficult to achieve in the long term because the size and timing of meals is determined by a multitude of chronobiological, physiological, psychological, social and cultural factors (81). Consequently, there is no one ideal food distribution pattern that can be universally recommended.

Recommendation

 The person with diabetes and the health care team should determine appropriate meal intervals.

Exercise

The multiple health benefits and improved sense of well-being that physical activity provides are well known (82,83). For people with type 2 diabetes, increasing physical activity can also increase insulin sensitivity, thereby improving glycemic control. This may lessen or eliminate the need for medication (82). People with type 1 diabetes can also enjoy the benefits of physical activity, although the effect on glycemic control will vary among individuals (83).

Physical activity can also benefit the person with diabetes by aiding in weight loss. Weight loss in itself can often decrease blood glucose. However, regardless of weight loss, physical activity may require the adjustment of insulin and/or insulin secretagogues as well as carbohydrate intake depending on the person's weight goal and personal choice. For example, for people attempting weight loss by initiating or increasing physical activity, diabetes medications may need to be decreased to avoid hypoglycemia, since increasing food intake would be counter-productive. Those requiring diabetes medications must also be aware that the glucose-lowering effects of physical activity can last or occur up to 12-24 hours or more after the activity. Thus, medications and/or food intake may need to be adjusted after physical activity, not just before it. Frequent blood glucose monitoring should aid any adjustments.

Individual tolerance of physical activity, concomitant physical or medical conditions and diabetes control should be assessed prior to the health care team recommending an appropriate program of physical activity (84). Canada's Physical Activity Guide to Healthy Active Living (85) can serve as a reference for those with uncomplicated diabetes and no other medical conditions.

Recommendations

- People with diabetes should consult with the diabetes health care team when considering a change to their level of physical activity.
- Plans for physical activity should be individualized for all people with diabetes.

 Medication and/or food may need to be adjusted to avoid hypoglycemia while meeting individual body weight goals.

Vegetarian eating

A well-balanced vegetarian diet can be a healthy choice for people with diabetes. Vegetarian diets emphasize fibre-rich grains and vegetable proteins, both of which have been associated with lowering cholesterol levels and cardiovascular risk (86–88). Nutritional evaluations of protein, iron, calcium, vitamin B12, vitamin D and overall daily energy intake are recommended. Special attention is needed in planning vegan diets for children, older adults, pregnant or lactating women, and ill people with diabetes (89,90). A registered dietitian can assist these groups in the planning of nutritionally adequate meals.

Recommendations

- A well-balanced vegetarian diet can be considered as a healthy choice for people with diabetes.
- A registered dietitian should be consulted to help plan nutritionally adequate meals, especially in children, older adults, pregnant or lactating women, and ill people with diabetes.

Travel

Many people with diabetes experience difficulty managing their diabetes when travelling. Individuals who use insulin and/or insulin secretagogues may have increased hypoglycemia and hyperglycemia while travelling due to several factors including the following: time changes, lack of or abundance of food, restaurant eating and lack of physical activity or excess of unplanned physical activity. These individuals should be made aware of the possible hypoglycemia and hyperglycemia that may result, and strategies to prevent this should be discussed.

Since meals on trains and planes may not meet dietary needs, the individual using insulin and/or insulin secretagogues should be prepared to prevent and treat hypoglycemia. Extra carbohydrate foods need to be carried with the individual to supplement the diet if meals are inadequate or delayed. Airlines often provide special meals for people with diabetes; however, in practice these meals tend to be low in carbohydrate.

Counselling on insulin and/or insulin secretagogue adjustments for travel across time zones should be individualized (91,92).

Recommendations

- Education should be provided about strategies to prevent hypoglycemia and hyperglycemia while travelling.
- The person with diabetes should have carbohydrate foods available to prevent or treat hypoglycemia.
- Counselling on insulin and/or insulin secretagogue adjustments when travelling across times zones should be individualized.

Cultural sensitivity

When conducting nutritional assessments and providing nutritional advice, the registered dietitian takes into account many variables in the hope of positively influencing behaviour and health outcomes. In addition to health beliefs, decision-making skills, financial resources, food availability and personal choice, foods chosen by people with diabetes are often influenced by their cultural heritage. To facilitate adherence, knowledge of culturally and individually acceptable foods will assist the registered dietitian in planning meals with the individual with diabetes (93,94).

Special attention must be provided to Aboriginal people, because type 2 diabetes is now recognized as a major health problem in this population. Over the past 50 years, dramatic changes in lifestyle in Aboriginal communities across North America have affected the social, environmental and health status of this population (71). Aboriginal diets vary greatly throughout the country. Aboriginal people in remote northern communities have vastly different lifestyles than those living in urban centres. In general, there is more consumption of supermarket foods and less reliance on once-traditional foods (95). Many Aboriginal health authorities believe that the use of non-traditional foods and the prevalence of sedentary lifestyles may be contributing to the rising incidence of type 2 diabetes among Aboriginal people. Thus, a return to a traditional diet is encouraged, provided the foods selected are safe, acceptable and accessible to the individual. A return to traditional activity levels may also be useful in achieving positive health outcomes (96-98).

Acquisition of an understanding of the Aboriginal ethno-specific communication patterns and an understanding of the learning styles of Aboriginal people are important in nutritional assessments and in providing nutritional advice. Incorporating these into the diabetes education provided may remove barriers to effective meal planning and health care (99,100).

Recommendations

- Culturally specific food practices and preferences of people with diabetes should be considered in meal planning.
- Returning to a traditional diet (provided the foods are safe, acceptable and accessible) and returning to traditional activity levels should be considered for Aboriginal people in achieving positive health outcomes.
- Diabetes education should include understanding the communication patterns and learning styles of Aboriginal people to facilitate effective meal planning and health care.

OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

Weight management and obesity

"Overweight" is currently defined as a body mass index (BMI = wt (kg)/ht (m)²) of 25.0–29.9 kg/m², with "obesity" defined as a BMI \geq 30.0 kg/m² (101). In addition to BMI, measurement of waist circumference is recommended as a simple means of assessing obesity

independent of height, and may be more meaningful to people with diabetes than their BMI (101). For adults with a BMI of 25.0–34.9 kg/m², a waist circumference ≥ 102 cm (40 inches) in men and ≥ 88 cm (35 inches) in women is a sign of excess abdominal fat, which is associated with an increased risk of metabolic complications (102). The prevalence of obesity has doubled over the last 20 years in Canada, and there is an alarming increase in the number of overweight and obese children. In developed countries like Canada, there is a gradual rise in body weight and increase in percent body fat with age at least until 60–65 years of age (101).

About 80% of people with type 2 diabetes are overweight. Indeed, most cases of type 2 diabetes might be prevented or delayed by early and effective weight management. In addition to increased diabetes and cardiovascular risk factors, people with a large waist circumference frequently experience more breathlessness, back pain and difficulties in walking, shopping, climbing stairs, bending over, bathing and dressing (103). Many symptoms experienced by overweight people with diabetes may be related more to excess body weight than poor glycemic control. Weight management improves all aspects of diabetes control, including blood glucose, blood lipids and hypertension. However, attainment of desirable body weight is not always necessary to achieve good metabolic control, which is the primary aim of diabetes therapy.

Weight management is best achieved by strategies that promote gradual rather than quick weight loss. Very-lowcalorie diets are known to produce short-term benefits that disappear over the long term (104,105). Weight management in obesity should focus on adopting a healthy lifestyle through food choices and regular physical activity. Reducing energy intake by restricting dietary fat is considered a better nutritional strategy for achieving weight loss in people with diabetes than a general restriction of energy (106) and may also reduce the risks of heart disease and some forms of cancer. Canada's Physical Activity Guide to Healthy Active Living recommends 60 minutes of physical activity every day. For moderate activities such as brisk walking, the goal is 30-60 minutes per day. The physical activity can be spread throughout the day, with several bouts of activity lasting 10 minutes each being just as effective as a single bout lasting 20-30 minutes. Individuals with a sedentary lifestyle may not be fit enough to achieve immediately the recommended amount of physical activity on a daily basis. Thus, a gradual increase in the intensity, duration and frequency of physical activity should be recommended over a period of weeks or months on an individual basis. Follow-up visits with the health care team are important in assessing adjustments that may be required as a result of the individual's weight management routine.

Recommendations

- Healthy weight gain in childhood and throughout adult life should be a goal for people with diabetes.
- When appropriate, gradual weight loss of 0.25–1.0 kg (0.5–2.0 lbs) per week should be advised with an

- achievable, time-limited target such as 7 kg over 3 months.
- Weight loss of 5–10% of initial weight should be sufficient to result in significant improvement in glycemic control and other co-morbidities.
- The health care team should be consulted, as a downward adjustment of insulin and/or insulin secretagogue doses may be necessary as a person with diabetes loses weight.
- If weight loss is not possible, prevention of further weight gain should be attempted.
- Weight loss is best achieved with a combination of increased physical activity and reduced energy intake. Sixty minutes of physical activity daily and a diet containing ≤ 30% energy from fat including a variety of foods such as whole fruits and vegetables and appropriately refined whole grain products are recommended for long-term weight management.
- Screening for and management of risk factors associated with obesity, such as dyslipidemia, hypertension and hyperglycemia are recommended.

Hypertension

Controlling hypertension in people with type 2 diabetes reduces the risk of diabetes-related deaths, diabetes complications, progression of diabetic retinopathy and deterioration in visual acuity (107). In those with diabetes, hypertension (i.e. blood pressure ≥ 140/90 mm Hg) should be treated to attain target blood pressure < 130/85 mm Hg (71). Non-pharmacological treatment of hypertension in most people with diabetes is the same as for those without diabetes (108). Often this is part of a general strategy to attain healthy weight through balanced eating and regular activity (109,110). A sodium restriction of 2-4 g/d may benefit those who are salt-sensitive (111). Avoidance or restriction of alcohol intake and smoking cessation may also be beneficial. Pharmacological therapy is indicated when lifestyle interventions are unsuccessful in controlling hypertension (71).

Recommendations

- People with diabetes should be encouraged to achieve and maintain target blood pressure through balanced eating, regular activity, weight management and smoking cessation.
- Sodium and alcohol restriction should be encouraged and may be beneficial.
- Antihypertensive medications are recommended if lifestyle interventions are unsuccessful in managing hypertension.

Dyslipidemia

People with diabetes have a two- to threefold increase in mortality due to cardiovascular disease (112). Therefore, these individuals should aim to achieve and maintain target lipid levels, as defined in the Clinical Practice Guidelines (71). Dyslipidemia is often a characteristic of poor glycemic control. Consequently, the first approach in managing

dyslipidemia is to improve blood glucose levels through dietary modifications, regular physical activity and, if necessary, adjustments of diabetes medications (71). Better glycemic control often improves but does not always optimize lipid levels. The nutritional approaches used to manage dyslipidemia in individuals with diabetes are essentially the same as for those who do not have diabetes. If LDL cholesterol and triglycerides remain suboptimal after attempts to improve glycemic control and modify fat intake, lipid-lowering agents may be introduced.

Recommendations

- Glycemic control should be improved as a first approach in managing dyslipidemia.
- General nutrition management of dyslipidemia in individuals with diabetes should be the same as for those without diabetes.
- If necessary, lipid-lowering agents to control LDL cholesterol and triglycerides should be introduced.

Nephropathy

Persons with diabetes are several times more prone to kidney disease than the general population. Consequently, nutritional recommendations in people with diabetes and renal disease depend on the degree of nephropathy and concurrent treatments such as dialysis and transplantation. Limiting protein intake to no more than requirements (0.86 g/kg/d for adults) is considered sufficiently restrictive to manage diabetic nephropathy at all stages of the disease (113). Restricting protein intake to less than requirements has no additional benefit on the progression of renal disease and may result in inadequate intake of essential amino acids. However, there is some evidence that the use of non-meat protein sources may be preferable to animal protein sources in the management of renal disease. Non-meat protein sources reduce glomerular filtration (114) and are associated with lower protein and phosphate intakes (115) and beneficial effects on blood pressure, body weight and blood lipids (116). People with diabetes can be encouraged to include vegetable protein sources in their meal plans, with attention to the use of complementary protein sources (e.g. combining legumes or peanuts with grains) to ensure high protein quality. Further research is needed before more definitive recommendations can be made. Restriction of sodium, potassium and phosphorus intakes should be considered on an individual basis based on the results of laboratory tests.

Recommendations

- Diabetic nephropathy should be managed by limiting protein intake to 0.86 g/kg/day in adults. For children, protein intake should be limited to the recommended nutrient intake (RNI) for age and gender
- Some animal protein should be substituted with high-quality non-meat protein sources.
- Sodium, potassium and phosphorus restriction should be individualized.

Neuropathy

Gastroparesis is a form of diabetic neuropathy that can affect the digestion of food and retard glucose absorption. Gastropathy is a broader term used to describe various disorders of upper gastrointestinal motility that are prevalent in diabetes. Gastropathy can result in postprandial hypoglycemia that is later followed by higher than normal blood glucose rises. Symptoms of gastropathy can include early satiety, decreased appetite, bloating, abdominal discomfort, nausea, vomiting and unexplained hypo/hyperglycemia. These symptoms may subside with improved blood glucose control. Dietary strategies that may prove useful in the treatment of gastropathy include the following: chewing food thoroughly; having small, frequent, low-fat meals; increasing the intake of foods of higher liquid consistency; eating solids as tolerated; and maintaining a low-fibre diet to discourage the development of bezoars. Nutritional supplements, multivitamin/minerals and in some cases enteral or parenteral feedings may be necessary to meet nutritional requirements. Gastropathy may also be managed with various pharmacological agents. Gastropathy in people with diabetes can vary widely in severity and can severely complicate diabetes management. Each case must be approached individually; blood glucose monitoring is recommended to assist in the appropriate adjustment to medication if required (117).

Recommendations

- Dietary strategies to manage gastropathy should be individualized and may include the following: chewing food thoroughly; having small, frequent lowfat meals; increasing intake of foods of higher liquid consistency; eating solids as tolerated; and maintaining a low-fibre diet to discourage the development of bezoars.
- Nutritional supplements, multivitamin/minerals and in some cases enteral or parenteral feedings may be necessary to meet nutrition requirements.
- People with gastropathy and diabetes should be encouraged to self monitor blood glucose frequently to aid in adapting diabetes medications to abnormal glucose absorption and to improve overall glycemic control.

Considerations for insulin and/or insulin secretagogue users

Although registered dietitians cannot order diabetes medications for people with diabetes, they remain integral in the decision of which agent/regimen may be best suited for the eating habits and lifestyle of people with diabetes. It is essential that registered dietitians work closely with all other team members to ensure that the lifestyle of the individual with diabetes is not unduly compromised because of the choice of medicine or regime. Treatment of diabetes with medicine brings to light various considerations that do not exist when just treating with diet and physical activity alone. Some of these considerations are discussed below.

Hypoglycemia

The greater the effort to attain near-normoglycemia with insulin and/or insulin secretagogues, the greater the risk of hypoglycemia (4,118). Persons taking insulin and/or insulin secretagogues should always carry a source of fastacting carbohydrate such as glucose tablets or fruit juice. These individuals should be taught to recognize the early symptoms of hypoglycemia and to treat this immediately with at least 10–15 g of carbohydrate. For some people, the amount may need to be increased and/or repeated. However, it is as important to avoid overtreating low blood glucose as it is to avoid undertreating (119). Continued treatment with carbohydrate until the symptoms of hypoglycemia disappear often results in extreme hyperglycemia prior to the next meal. Ideally, a capillary blood glucose test should be done before consuming carbohydrate to confirm a low blood glucose level exists and 10-20 minutes after eating to confirm treatment was appropriate. Depending on the individual, the reason for the low blood glucose, the diabetes medications used and the interval to the next meal, it may be necessary to follow the treatment with a snack to prevent the hypoglycemia from recurring.

Hypoglycemia may occur immediately after or during meals in individuals using regular insulin or fast-acting insulin analogues who have started the meal with their blood glucose in the 4–5 mmol/L range. In this instance, glucose administered against the mucosal lining of the mouth may be the most effective method of treatment. To help avoid such an incident, fast-acting analogue insulin users should be reminded to eat immediately or no later than 15 minutes after injection of insulin (120). People with frequent hypoglycemic episodes of this nature, which are not corrected with insulin dose adjustment, may consider taking insulin after the meal. Of interest, those on a fast-acting analogue may experience less hypoglycemia compared to those on regular insulin (121).

Metformin and alpha-glucosidase inhibitors do not usually cause hypoglycemia when used on their own. However, used in combination with insulin and/or an insulin secretagogues, the risk of hypoglycemia exists. Low blood glucose in insulin and/or insulin secretagogue users who also take an alpha-glucosidase inhibitor should only be treated with monosaccharides (such as glucose), since alpha-glucosidase inhibitors slow the absorption of disaccharides (i.e. sucrose) (122,123).

Weight

Weight often increases in people newly started on insulin and those with previous poor control who are attempting to achieve better control. This is usually a result of less caloric loss through glycosuria, a reduced resting metabolic rate resulting from better blood sugar control and, in some cases, rehydration. Consequently, persons with diabetes newly starting on insulin or more intensive insulin therapies may wish to consider, with their diabetes health care team, either increasing activity or decreasing food intake at initiation of therapy (124,125). Otherwise, weight loss and/or physical activity in those established on insulin

and/or insulin secretagogues may necessitate changes to these medications and possibly food intake, as previously discussed in the "Weight management and obesity" and "Exercise" sections of this document.

Carbohydrate counting

Carbohydrate counting can aid the person with diabetes in achieving better blood glucose control while providing considerable variety in the diet. Carbohydrate counting can be used in meal-planning strategies that allow for both consistent and inconsistent carbohydrate intake (i.e. with insulin to carbohydrate ratios) (126). In the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial, participants with a consistent carbohydrate intake generally found it easier to attain target blood glucose than those who ate carbohydrate inconsistently (119,125). However, since the focus is on carbohydrate, care must be taken to help the persons with diabetes achieve a nutritionally adequate diet.

New and future diabetes medications

Numerous new medicines for the treatment of diabetes have been or soon will be introduced into Canada. In the future, more insulin analogues, both fast- and slow-acting, will likely be available. As well, new insulin secretagogues are expected to be available in the near future. Registered dietitians and other diabetes health care team members need to educate themselves continually regarding the actions of these new medicines and possible effects on lifestyle that these medicines may have. Registered dietitians unfamiliar with diabetes medications and management strategies are encouraged to contact diabetes educators who have expertise in this area.

Recommendations

- The registered dietitian should work with the health care team to ensure that the appropriate medication/regime is prescribed to accommodate the lifestyle of the individual with diabetes.
- All insulin and insulin secretagogue users, their families and support persons should be instructed on how to prevent, recognize and treat low blood glucose.
- Individuals with diabetes should be informed of the likelihood of weight gain with initiation or intensification of insulin therapy. Reduced energy intake and/or increased physical activity may be considered at time of initiation of the new insulin therapy.
- Care should be taken to ensure those instructed to use carbohydrate counting for blood glucose control are also instructed on the basics of healthy eating and weight management.
- All diabetes health care team members should regularly seek to keep informed of diabetes management changes and advancements.

PREVENTION OF TYPE 2 DIABETES

People with established impaired glucose tolerance (IGT) or impaired fasting glucose (IFG) are at increased risk of developing type 2 diabetes (127–129) and heart

disease (130). Dietary modifications and physical activity have been reported as ways to reduce the development of type 2 diabetes (131). For this reason, the same nutrition guidelines that apply to people with type 2 diabetes are appropriate for individuals with IGT or IFG.

Recommendations

• Individuals with IGT or IFG should be provided with the same nutrition and physical activity guidelines that apply to people with type 2 diabetes.

SUMMARY

Nutrition management is a key component for the long-term health and quality of life for people with diabetes. The general principles for nutrition recommendations are the same for people with diabetes as those without the condition. However, it is important that the health care team work with people with diabetes in setting realistic goals that meet the individual's micro- and macronutrient, physical activity, lifestyle and medical needs. The registered dietitian is a key member in assisting the individual in reaching these goals.

Attaining and maintaining blood glucose and lipid levels as near-normal as possible and preventing and/or treating diabetes-related complications and any concomitant conditions is vital to maintaining the physiological health of people with diabetes. Registered dietitians are referred to the 1998 Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Management of Diabetes in Canada for guidance.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to sincerely thank the many experts who reviewed these guidelines for their insights and contributions in the preparation of this paper. The comments from members of the Clinical and Scientific Section and the Diabetes Educator Section of the Canadian Diabetes Association (CDA), and attendees at the CDA Professional Sections Conference, Calgary, Alberta, October 1998, are gratefully acknowledged. We would like to recognize the important support provided by the CDA staff, particularly Carol Seto, Director of Public Education and Services, and the expert administrative support provided by Vay Chen, Erika Takacs and Mary Richardson. The assistance on the writing of this document provided by Gord Bagley and Bridget Davidson is much appreciated.

Steering Committee Members

Thomas Wolever MD PhD, Marie-Claire Barbeau DtP, Stephanie Charron PHEc, Kathy Harrigan PDt MHE CDE, Sharon Leung RDN CDE, Bev Madrick RD CDE, Teresa Taillefer RD CDE, Carol Seto RD CDE.

Expert Committee Members

Kristin Anderson RD MPH CDE, Carol Ayers RD CDE, Christiane Barbeau DtP, Joanne Beyers MA RD, Karen Butler PDt CDE, Kathy Camelon RD, Josie Caruso-Ditta RD, Donna Ciliska RN PhD, Lisa DeWolf PDt CDE, Julie Dubé RD, Peggy Dunbar MEd PDt CDE, Phyllis Duxbury RD, Marilyn Fry RD

CDE, Lise Gagnon DtP, Kerry Grady-Vincent MHSc RD, Lori Hards RD, Frances Hastings RDN, Marjorie Hollands MSc RD CDE, Alexandra Jenkins RD CDE, David J.A. Jenkins MD PhD DSc, Suzanne Johnson RDN, Louise Leclerc MSc PDt, Lawrence Leiter MD FRCP(C) FACP, Lise Lévesque RD, Gary Lewis MD FRCP(C), Cathie Martin BSc RD CDE, John H. McNeill PhD, Adi Mehta MD FRCP(C) FACE, Anne Murray PDt MAEd CDE, Céline Raymond DtP, Sethu Reddy MD, Claire Robillard RD, Manon Robitaille DtP, Ann Sclater MD MSc FRCP(C), Jennifer Snyder PDt MSc, Christiane So DtP, Elise Taillon DtP, Sandi Williams BA MEd RD CDE, Jean-François Yale MD, Bernard Zinman MD FACP FRCP(C).

REFERENCES

- Health Canada. Canada's Food Guide to Healthy Eating. Cat No H39-252/1992E ISBN0662-19648-1.
- Health and Welfare Canada. Action Towards ... Canada's Guidelines for Healthy Eating and Recommended Strategies for Implementation. The Report of the Communications/Implementation Committee. Ottawa: Minister of Supply and Services Canada; 1990.
- The DCCT Research Group. The effect of intensive insulin treatment of diabetes on the development and progression of long-term complications in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. N Engl J Med. 1993;329:977–986.
- UK Prospective Diabetes Study Group. Intensive blood-glucose control with sulphonylureas or insulin compared with conventional treatment and risk of complications in patients with type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 33). *Lancet*. 1998;352(9131):837–853.
- Health and Welfare Canada. Nutrition Recommendations. The Report of the Scientific Review Committee. Ottawa: Canadian Government Publications Centre; 1990: Cat No H49-42/1990E.
- Wolever TMS, Jenkins DJA, Vuksan V, et al. Variation in meal fat does not affect the relative blood glucose response of spaghetti in subjects with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Nutr Metab.* 1992;5:191–197.
- Wolever TMS, Bolognesi C. Source and amount of carbohydrate affect postprandial glucose and insulin in normal subjects. J Nutr. 1996;126:2798–2806.
- Carbohydrates in human nutrition. Report of a Joint FAO/WHO Expert Consultation, Rome, 14–18 April, 1997. FAO Food and Nutrition Paper 66. Rome, 1998.
- 9. Wolever TMS, Brand Miller JC. Sugars and blood glucose. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 1995;62(suppl.):212S–227S.
- Würsch P. Starch in human nutrition. World Rev Nutr Dietet. 1989;60:199–256.
- Wolever TMS, Jenkins DJA, Jenkins AL, et al. The glycemic index: methodology and clinical implications. Am J Clin Nutr. 1991;54:846–854.
- Wolever TMS. The glycemic index: flogging a dead horse? Diabetes Care. 1997;20:452–456.
- American Diabetes Association Position Statement. Nutrition recommendations and principles for people with diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Care*. 1994;17:519–522.
- Diabetes and Nutrition Study Group (DNSG) of the European Association for the Study of Diabetes (EASD), 1995.
 Recommendations for the nutritional management of patients with diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Nutr Metab. 1995;8:186–189.

- Franz MJ, Horton ES, Bantle JP, et al. Nutrition principles for the management of diabetes and related complications. *Diabetes Care*. 1994;17:490–518.
- Frost G, Wilding J, Beecham J. Dietary advice based on the glycemic index improves dietary profile and metabolic control in type 2 diabetic patients. *Diabetic Med.* 1994;11:397–401.
- Salmeron J, Ascherio A, Rimm EB, et al. Dietary fibre, glycemic load and risk of NIDDM in men. *Diabetes Care*. 1997;20:545–550.
- Salmeron J, Manson JE, Stampfer MJ, et al. Dietary fibre, glycemic load and risk of non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus in women. JAMA. 1997;277:472–477.
- Foster-Powell K, Brand Miller J. International tables of glycemic index. Am J Clin Nutr. 1995;62:8715

 –893S.
- Chantelea EA, Gosseringer G, Sonnenberg GE, et al. Moderate intake of sucrose does not impair metabolic control in pumptreated out-patients. *Diabetologia*. 1985;28:204–207.
- Jellish WS, Emanuele MA, Abraira C. Graded sucrose/carbohydrate diets in overtly hypertriglyceridemic diabetic patients. Am I Med. 1984;77:1015–1022.
- Colagiuri S, Miller JJ, Edwards RA. Metabolic effects of adding sucrose and aspartame to the diet of subjects with non-insulindependent diabetes mellitus. Am J Clin Nutr. 1989;50:474–478.
- Wolever TMS, Vuksan V, Katzman-Relle L, et al. Glycemic index of some fruits and fruit products in patients with diabetes. Int J Food Sci Nutr. 1993;43:205–212.
- Brand Miller JC, Lobbezoo I. Replacing starch with sucrose in a high glycemic index breakfast cereal lowers glycemic and insulin responses. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* 1994;48:749–752.
- 25. Frayn KN, Kingman SM. Dietary sugars and lipid metabolism in humans. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 1995;62(suppl.):2508–263S.
- Jenkins DJA, Wolever TMS, Rao AV, et al. Effect on serum lipids of very high fiber intakes in diets low in saturated fat and cholesterol. N Engl J Med. 1993;329:21–26.
- Jenkins DJA, Spadafora PJ, Jenkins AL, et al. Fiber in the treatment of hyperlipidemia. In: Spiller GA, ed. CRC Handbook of Dietary Fiber in Human Nutrition. 2nd ed. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press; 1993:419–438.
- Wolever TMS, Jenkins DJA. Effect of dietary fiber and foods on carbohydrate metabolism. In: Spiller GA, ed. CRC Handbook of Dietary Fiber in Human Nutrition. 2nd ed. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press; 1993:111–152.
- Wolever TMS. In vitro and in vivo models for predicting the effect of dietary fiber and starchy foods on carbohydrate metabolism. In: Kritchevsky D, Bonfield C, eds. *Dietary Fiber in Health* & *Disease*. St. Paul, MN: Eagan Press; 1995:360–377.
- Rimm EB, Ascherio A, Giovannucci E, et al. Vegetable, fruit and cereal fiber intake and risk of coronary heart disease among men. *JAMA*. 1996;275:447–451.
- Franz MJ. Protein: metabolism and effect on blood glucose levels. The Diabetes Educator. 1997;23(6):643–651.
- Nuttall FQ, Gannon MC. Plasma glucose and insulin response to macronutrients in nondiabetic and NIDDM subjects. *Diabetes Care*. 1991;14:824–838.
- 33. Brenner BM, Meyer TW, Hostetter TH. Dietary protein intake and the progressive nature of kidney disease: the role of hemodynamically mediated glomerular injury in the pathogenesis of progressive glomerular sclerosis in aging, renal ablation and intrinsic renal disease. N Engl J Med. 1982;307:652–659.
- 34. Anderson JW, Johnstone MB, Cook–Newell ME. Meta-analysis of the effects of soy protein intake on serum lipids. *N Engl J Med*. 1995;333:276–282.

- 35. Kontessis P, Jones S, Dodds R, et al. Renal, metabolic and hormonal responses to ingestion of animal and vegetable proteins. *Kidney Int.* 1990;38:136–144.
- Anderson JW, Blake JE, Turner J, et al. Effects of soy protein on renal function and proteinuria in patients with type 2 diabetes. Am J Clin Nutr. 1998;68(suppl.):1347S–1353S.
- 37. Summary of the second report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) expert panel on detection, evaluation and treatment of high blood cholesterol in adults (Adult Treatment Panel II). *JAMA*. 1993;269:3015–3023.
- Prunell JG, Brunzell JD. The central role of dietary fat, not carbohydrate, in the insulin resistance syndrome. Curr Opin Lipidol. 1997;8:17–22.
- Reaven GM. Do high carbohydrate diets prevent the development or attenuate the manifestations (or both) of syndrome X?
 A viewpoint strongly against. Curr Opin Lipidol. 1997;8:23–27.
- Garg A. High-monounsaturated-fat diets for patients with diabetes mellitus: a meta-analysis. Am J Clin Nutr. 1998; 76(suppl.):5775–582S.
- 41. Friedberg CE, Janssen MJFM, Heine RJ, et al. Fish oil and glycemic control in diabetes: a meta-analysis. *Diabetes Care*. 1998;21:494–500.
- Ascherio A, Willett WC. Health effects of trans-fatty acids. Am J Clin Nutr. 1997;66(suppl.):100S–110S.
- Shapiro S. Do trans-fatty acids increase the risk of coronary artery disease? A critique of the epidemiologic evidence. Am J Nutr. 1997;66(suppl.):1011S–1017S.
- National Nutrition Committee of the Canadian Diabetes Association. Sucralose update. Can J Diabetes Care. 1994;18(2):14–15.
- 45. Sechhi A, Pontiroli AE, Cammelli L, et al. Effects of oral administration of maltitol on plasma glucose, plasma sorbitol, and serum insulin levels in man. *Klin Sochenschr.* 1986;64:265–269.
- Natah SS, Hussien KR, Tuominen JA, et al. Metabolic response to lactitol and xylitol in healthy men. Am J Clin Nutr. 1997;65:947–950.
- Würsch P, Koellreutter B, Schweizer TF. Hydrogen excretion after ingestion of five different sugar alcohols and lactulose. Eur J Clin Nutr. 1989;43:819–825.
- 48. American Diabetes Association. Clinical Practice Recommendations. *Diabetes Care*. 1999;22(suppl. 1):S42–S45.
- Giugliano D, Ceriello A, Paolisso G. Oxidative stress and diabetic vascular complications. *Diabetes Care*. 1996;19:257–267.
- Gerstein HC, Bosch J, Pogue J, et al. Rationale and design of a large study to evaluate the renal and cardiovascular effects of an ACE inhibitor and vitamin E in high-risk patients with diabetes. *Diabetes Care.* 1996;19:1225–1228.
- Tosiello L. Hypomagnesemia and diabetes mellitus: a review of clinical implications. Arch Intern Med. 1996;156:1143–1148.
- Mooradian AD, Failla M, Hoogwerg B, et al. Selected vitamins and minerals in diabetes (Technical Review). *Diabetes Care*. 1994;(17);464–479.
- Anderson RA. Chromium, glucose intolerance and diabetes. J Am Coll Nutr. 1997;17:548–555.
- 54. Anderson RA, Cheng N, Bryden NA, et al. Elevated intakes of supplemental chromium improve glucose and insulin variables in individuals with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes*. 1997;46:1786–1791.
- Canadian Pediatric Society, Dietitians of Canada, Health Canada. Nutrition for Healthy Term Infants. Ottawa: Minister of Public Works and Government Services; 1998:33.

- 56. Queen PM, Lang CE. *Handbook of Pediatric Nutrition*. Gaithersburg, MD. Aspen Publishers; 1993.
- Connell JE, Thomas-Dobersen D. Nutritional management of children and adolescents with Insulin-Dependent Diabetes: a review by the Diabetes Care and Education Dietetic Practice Group. J Am Diet Assoc. 1991;12:1556–1564.
- 58. Rapaport WS, LaGreca AM, Levine, P. Preventing eating disorders in young women with type 1 diabetes. In: Anderson, BJ, Rubin RR, eds. Practical Psychology for Diabetes Clinicians: How to Deal with the Key Behavioral Issues Faced by Patients and Health Care Teams. Alexandria, VA: American Diabetes Association; 1996:133–141.
- Khan Y, Montgomery MJ. Eating attitudes in young females with diabetes: Insulin omission identifies a vulnerable subgroup. Br J Med Psych. 1996;69:343

 –353.
- Rodin GM, Daneman D. Eating disorders and IDDM. Diabetes Care. 1992;15(10):1402–1412.
- Marcus MD, Wing RR. Eating disorders and diabetes. In: Holmes CS, ed. Neuropsychological and Behavioral Aspects of Diabetes. New York: Springer-Verlog; 1990:102–121.
- Rodin GM, Johnson LE, Garfinkel PE, et al. Eating disorders in female adolescents with insulin dependent diabetes mellitus. *Int* J Psych Med. 1986;16(1):49–57.
- Rodin G, Craven J, Littlefield C, et al. Eating disorders and intentional insulin undertreatment in adolescent females with diabetes. *Psychosomatics*. 1991;32(2):171–176.
- 64. Affenito SG, Lammi-Keefe CJ, Vogel S, et al. Women with insulin dependent diabetes mellitus (IDDM) complicated by eating disorders are at risk for exacerbated alterations in lipid metabolism. Eur J Clin Nutr. 1997;51(7):462–466.
- Affenito SG, Backstrand JR, Welch GW, et al. Subclinical and clinical eating disorders in IDDM negatively affect metabolic control. *Diabetes Care*. 1997;20(2):182–184.
- Lunt H. Women and diabetes. Diabetic Med. 1996;13(12):1009–1016.
- Cantwell R, Steel JM. Screening for eating disorders in diabetes mellitus. J Psychosom Res. 1996;40(1):15–20.
- Polonsky WH, Anderson BJ, Lohrer PA, et al. Insulin omission in women with IDDM. *Diabetes Care*. 1994;17(10):1178–1185.
- Mannucci E, Ricca V, Rotella CM. Clinical features of binge eating disorder in type 1 diabetes: a case report. *Int J Eating Disord*. 1997;21(1):99–102.
- Health Canada. Nutrition for a Healthy Pregnancy: National Guidelines for Childbearing Years. Ottawa: Minister of Public Works and Government Services Canada; 1999.
- Meltzer S, Leiter L, Daneman D, et al. 1998 clinical practice guidelines for the management of diabetes in Canada. Can Med Assoc J. 1998;159(8 suppl.):S1–S29.
- Jenkins DJA, Ocana A, Jenkins AL, et al. Metabolic advantages of spreading the nutrient load: effects of increased meal frequency in non-insulin-dependent diabetes. Am J Clin Nutr. 1992;55:461–467.
- Segura AG, Josse RG, Wolever TMS. Acute metabolic effects of increased meal frequency in Type II diabetes: three vs. six, nine and twelve meals. *Diabetes Nutr Metab.* 1995;8:331–338.
- 74. Piacquadio K, Hollingsworth D, Murphy H. Fetal malformations following first trimester use of oral hypoglycemic agents. *Diabetes.* 1990:39(suppl.):123A.
- American Diabetes Association. Medical Management of Pregnancy Complicated by Diabetes. 2nd ed. Alexandria, VA: American Diabetes Association; 1995:9.

- National Nutrition Committee. Guidelines for the Nutritional management of diabetes in pregnancy: a position statement by the Canadian Diabetes Association. Beta Release. 1991;15(3):75–80.
- Meneilly GS, Tessier D. Diabetes in the elderly. *Diabetic Med*. 1995;12:949–960.
- Mann J. Meal frequency and plasma lipids and lipoproteins. Br J Nutr. 1997;77(suppl. 1):S83–S90.
- Jenkins DJA. Carbohydrate tolerance and food frequency. Br J Nutr. 1997;777(suppl. 1):S71–S81.
- Arnold L, Mann JI, Ball MJ. Metabolic effects of alterations in meal frequency in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 1997;20:1651–1654.
- Gibney MJ, Wolever TMS, Frayn KN, eds. Periodicity of eating and human health, Paris, France. 21–23 November, 1996. Br J Nutr. 1997;77(suppl. 1).
- 82. Tsui EYL, Zinman B. Exercise and diabetes: new insights and therapeutic goals. *The Endocrinologist*. 1995;5(4):263–271.
- Wasserman DH, Zinman B. Exercise in individuals with IDDM. Diabetes Care. 1994;17(8):924–937.
- Maggio CA, Pi-Sunyer FX. The prevention and treatment of obesity (application to type 2 diabetes). *Diabetes Care*. 1997;20(11):1744–1766.
- Health Canada. Canada's Physical Activity Guide to Healthy Active Living. Cat No H39-429/1998-EN ISBN0662-86627-7.
- Franklin TL, Kolasa KM, Griffin K, et al. Adherence to very low fat diet by a group of cardiac rehabilitation patients in the rural Southeastern United States. Arch Fam Med. 1995;4:551–554.
- 87. Key TJA, Thorogood M, Appleby PM, et al. Dietary habits and mortality in 11,000 vegetarian and health conscious people: results of a 17 year follow-up. *BMJ*. 1996;313:775–779.
- 88. Melby CL, Toohey ML, Cedrick J. Blood pressure and blood lipids among vegetarian, semivegetarian and nonvegetarian African Amercians. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 1994;59:103–109.
- Messina VK, Burke KI. Position of the American Dietetic Association: vegetarian diets. J Am Diet Assoc. 1997; 59:1317–1321.
- Sanders TAB, Reddy S. Vegetarian diets and children. Am J Clin Nutr. 1994;59(suppl.):1176S–1181S.
- Funnell MM, Hunt C, Kulkarni K, et al. A Core Curriculum for Diabetes Education. Chicago, IL: American Association of Diabetes Educators; 1998.
- 92. Jones H, Poduch C. Travelling: dealing with the dilemma of time zones. *Diabetes Dialogue*. Spring 1990;37(1):37–41.
- Anderson RM, Funnell MM, Arnold MS. Beyond compliance and glucose control: educating for patient empowerment. In: Rifkin H, Colwell JA, Taylor SI, eds. *Diabetes*. Amsterdam: Elsevier Science Publishers; 1991:1285–1289.
- Penn NE, Kar S, Kramer J, et al. Ethnic minorities, health care systems, and behavior. *Health Psychol*. 1995;14:641–646.
- Szathmary EJ, Ritenbaugh C, Goodby CM. Dietary change and plasma glucose levels in an Amerindian population undergoing cultural transition. Soc Sci Med. 1987;24(10):791–804.
- Boyce VL, Swinburn BA. The traditional Pima Indian diet composition and adaptation for use in a dietary intervention study. *Diabetes Care*. 1993;16(suppl. 1):369–371.
- 97. Ravussin E, Valencia ME, Esparza J, et al. Effects of a traditional lifestyle on obesity in Pima Indians. *Diabetes Care*. 1994;17(9):1067–1074.

- Nobmann ED, Mamleeva FY, Klachkova EV. A comparison of the diets of Siberian Chukotka and Alaska Native adults and recommendations for improved nutrition, a survey of selected previous studies. *Arctic Med Res.* 1994;53:123–129.
- Young TK. Diabetes in the Canadian Native Population: Biocultural Perspectives. Toronto, ON: Canadian Diabetes Association; 1987:123–132.
- Nicholas L. Alternative teaching methods for nutrition education. 3rd International Conference on Diabetes and Indigenous Peoples. [abstract]. Winnipeg, MB;1995; No. 11.
- 101. Obesity: preventing and managing the global epidemic. Report of a WHO Consultation on Obesity. Geneva, 3–5 June 1997. Geneva: WHO;1998.
- 102. National Institutes of Health, National Heart, Lung and Blood Institute. Clinical guidelines on the identification, evaluation and treatment of overweight and obesity in adults: executive summary, 1998.
- Lean ME, Han TS, Seidell JC. Impairment of health and quality of life in people with large waist circumference. *Lancet*. 1998;351(9106):853–856.
- 104. Ciliska D, Kelly C, Petrov N, et al. A review of weight loss interventions for obese people with non-insulin-dependentdiabetes mellitus. Can J Diabetes Care. 1995;19:101–105.
- 105. Wing RR, Blair E, Marcus M, et al. Year-long weight loss treatment for obese patients with type II diabetes: does including an intermittent very-low-calorie diet improve clinical outcome? Am J Med. 1994;97:354–362.
- 106. Pascale RW, Wing RR, Butler BA, et al. Effects of a behavioral weight loss program stressing calorie restriction versus calorie plus fat restriction in obese individuals with NIDDM or a family history of diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 1995;18:1241–1248.
- 107. UK Prospective Diabetes Study Group. Tight blood pressure control and risk of macrovascular and micovascular complications in type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 39). BMJ. 1998;317:713–720.
- 108. National High Blood Pressure Education Program Working Group report on hypertension in diabetes. *Hypertension*. 1994;23(2):145–158.
- 109. Fagard, R.H. Physical fitness and blood pressure (meta-analysis); J Hypertens. 1993;5(suppl. 11):S47–S52.
- Reisin E. Nonpharmacologic approaches to hypertension.
 Weight, sodium, alcohol, exercise and tobacco considerations.
 Med Clin North Am. 1997;81(6);1289–1303.
- 111. Graudal NA, Galloe AM, Garred P. Effects of sodium restriction on blood pressure, renin, aldosterone, catecholamines, cholesterols, and triglyceride: a meta-analysis. *JAMA*. 1998; 279(17):1383–1391.
- 112. Stamler J, Vaccaro O, Neaton JD, et al. Diabetes, other risk factors, and 12-year cardiovascular mortality for men screened in the Multiple Risk Factor Intervention Trial. *Diabetes Care*. 1993;16:434–444.
- 113. Pedrini MT, Levey AS, Lau J, et al. The effect of dietary protein restriction on the progression of diabetic and non-diabetic renal diseases: a meta-analysis. Ann Intern Med. 1996;124:627–632.
- 114. Bilo HJ, Schaap GH, Blaak E, et al. Effects of chronic and acute protein administration on renal function in patients with chronic renal insufficiency. *Nephron.* 1989;53:181–187.
- 115. Soroka N, Silverberg DS, Greemland M, et al. Comparison of a vegetable-based (soya) and an animal-based low-protein diet in predialysis chronic renal failure patients. *Nephron*. 1998;79:173–180.

- Segasothy M, Bennett WM. Vegetarian diet: relevance in renal disease. Nephrology. 1997;3:397–405.
- Valentine V, Barone JA, Hill VC. Gastropathy in patients with diabetes: current concepts and treatment recommendations. *Diabetes Spectrum.* 1998;11(4):248–253.
- 118. The DCCT Research Group. Adverse events and their association with treatment regimens in the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial. *Diabetes Care*. 1995; 18(11):1415–1421.
- 119. Delahanty LM, Halford BN. The role of diet behaviors in achieving improved glycemic control in intensively treated patients in the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial. *Diabetes Care*, 1993;16(11):1453–1458.
- Humalog [product monograph]. Toronto: Lilly & Co; Oct 4, 1996.
- 121. Anderson JH Jr, Brunelle RL, Keohane P, et al. Mealtime treatment with insulin analog improves postprandial hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia in patients with noninsulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Multicenter Insulin Lispro Study Group. Arch Intern Med. 1997;157(11):1249–1255.
- Jenkins DJA, Taylor RH, Goff DV, et al. Scope and specificity of acarbose in slowing carbohydrate absorption in man. *Diabetes*. 1981;30:951–954.
- Prandase [product monograph]. Toronto: Bayer Inc; March 4, 1996.
- 124. Carlson M, Campbell P. Intensive insulin therapy and weight gain in IDDM. *Diabetes.* 1993;42(12):1700–1707.
- The DCCT Research Group. Expanded role of the dietitian in the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial: implication for clinical practice. J Am Diet Assoc. 1993;93(7):758–767.
- 126. Gillespie SJ, Kulkarni KD, Kaly AE. Using carbohydrate counting in diabetes clinical practice. J Am Diet Assoc. 1998;98(8):897–905.
- 127. Shaten BJ, Smith GD, Kuller LH, et al. Risk factors for the development of type II diabetes among men enrolled in the usual care group of the Multiple Risk Factor Intervention Trial. *Diabetes Care.* 1993;16:1331–1339.
- 128. Saad MF, Knowler WC, Pettitt DJ, et al. The natural history of impaired glucose tolerance in the Pima Indians. N Engl J Med. 1988;319:1500–1506.
- Charles MA, Fontbonne A, Thibult N, et al. Risk factors for NIDDM in white population: Paris prospective study. *Diabetes*. 1991;40:796–799.
- 130. Balkan B, Shipley M, Jarrett RJ, et al. High blood glucose concentration is a risk factor for mortality in middle-aged nondiabetic men: 20-year follow-up in the Whitehall Study, the Paris Prospective Study, and the Helsinki Policeman Study. Diabetes Care. 1998;21:360–367.
- 131. Pan X, Li G, Hu Y-H, et al. Effects of diet and exercise in preventing NIDDM in people with impaired glucose tolerance: the Da Quing IGT and Diabetes Study. *Diabetes Care*. 1997;20:537–544.